
 

WORK SESSION 

February 27, 2023 
10:00 AM 

 
Albany-Dougherty Government Center 
222 Pine Ave, Room 100, Albany, GA 31701 

 

 
AGENDA 

To comply with the request set forth by the Chairman of Dougherty County, GA and the 
guidelines of the Center for Disease Control (CDC) regarding the Coronavirus (COVID19) 
pandemic and social distancing, face coverings (masks) are optional for all meeting participants. 

 

The public will also have access to the live meeting by accessing the Dougherty County Georgia 
Government Facebook page at facebook.com/Dougherty.ga.us or viewing the public 
government access channel (Channel 16). 

1. Call the meeting to order by Chairman Lorenzo Heard. 

2. Roll Call. 

3. Minutes. 

a. Minutes of the February 6th Regular Meeting and February 13th Work Session. 

4. Delegations (The Commission will hear comments on those items pertaining to Dougherty 
County for which a public hearing has not been held or scheduled. Please be brief, to the 
point, and considerate of time for others). 

5. Purchases. 

a. Recommendation to accept the bid from the lowest responsive and responsible bidder, 
BHM Farms, LLC DBA South Georgia Turf Care (Leesburg, Ga) for the Public Works 
Right of Way Mowing Project in the amount of $52,797.96.  Six bids were received 
with the highest being $297,306.  Funding is budgeted in the Special Tax 
District.  County Administrator Michael McCoy will address.  Public Works Director 
Chuck Mathis and City of Albany Buyer Tina Strassenberg are present.   

b. Recommendation to accept the bid from the lowest responsive and responsible bidder, 
Pro Outdoor (Albany, Ga) for the Public Works Riverfront Park Landscaping and Lawn 
Maintenance River Park and Resource Center Project in the amount of 
$70,081.08.  Five bids were received with the highest being $110,075.  Funding is 
budgeted in ARPA.  County Administrator Michael McCoy will address.  Public Works 
Director Chuck Mathis and City of Albany Buyer Tina Strassenberg are present.   

1



c. Recommendation to accept the bid from the lowest responsive and responsible bidder, 
Ray the Handyman (Ashburn, Ga) for the Public Works County Parks Mowing Project 
in the amount of $116,040.  Thirteen bids were received with the highest being 
$263,880.  Funding is budgeted in ARPA.  County Administrator Michael McCoy will 
address.  Public Works Director Chuck Mathis and City of Albany Buyer  
Tina Strassenberg are present.   

d. Recommendation to purchase ten pole cameras for Dougherty County Police from 
Flock Safety (Atlanta, GA) in the amount of $58,500.  The payment amount will be 
broken down into two annual payments (year #1 $31,000 and year #2 $27,500).  The 
pole cameras will be installed in various locations throughout Dougherty County and 
will assist in criminal investigations by analyzing vehicle license plates, state 
recognition, and vehicle attributes such as color, type, make, and objects.  Funding is 
budgeted in the Special Services District Fund.  County Administrator Michael McCoy 
will address.  Chief Kenneth Johnson is present. 

6. Additional Business. 

a. Recommendation to approve the five year renewal  Judicial Alternatives of Georgia, 
Inc (JAG) Probation Services Agreement with the Superior Court of Dougherty County 
effective January 1, 2023.  County Administrator Michael McCoy will address. 

b. Recommendation to approve the five year renewal  Judicial Alternatives of Georgia, 
Inc (JAG) Probation Services Agreement with the Magistrate Court of Dougherty 
County effective January 1, 2023.  County Administrator Michael McCoy will address. 

c. Recommendation to revise the Dougherty County Board of Commissioner's COVID 
Guidelines and discontinue paid leave under FFCRA (Families First Corona Virus 
Response Act) and ARPA (American Rescue Plan).  County Administrator  
Michael McCoy and Interim HR Director Erica Potts will address.  

d. Recommendation to accept the required Resolutions updating the authorized 
personnel for the Georgia Fund I accounts and accepting the required Resolutions 
authorizing Georgia Fund I to accept funding for the LGIP account.   The new account 
will receive funding from the Opioid Epidemic Litigation. County Administrator Michael 
McCoy and Finance Director Martha Hendley will address.                                           

e. Proposed Board Appointment.  County Clerk Jawahn Ware will address.  

 Dougherty County Development Authority- One (1) appointment with a 
four year unexpired term ending December 31, 2023.  There is one new 
applicant:  Michael Tabarrok. 

7. Updates from the County Administrator. 

a. Update on the Radium Springs Water Tower and obtain Board direction on requested 
action. 

b. REMINDER- The Recreation Subcommittee Meeting will be held immediately 
following the Work Session in the Administration Conference Room (Room 120). 

  

2



8. Updates from the County Attorney. 
 

9. Updates from the County Commission. 

10. Adjourn. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Individuals with disabilities who require certain accommodations in order to allow them to 
observe and/or participate in this meeting, or who have questions regarding the accessibility of 
the meeting or the facilities are required to contact the ADA Coordinator at 229-431-2121 
promptly to allow the County to make reasonable accommodations for those persons. 

3



 

 

 

DOUGHERTY COUNTY COMMISSION 

                                DRAFT  

REGULAR MEETING MINUTES 

 

February 6, 2023 

 

The Dougherty County Commission met in Room 100 of the Albany-Dougherty Government 

Center on February 6, 2023.  Chairman Lorenzo Heard presided and called the meeting to 

order at 10:00 a.m.  Present were Commissioners Victor Edwards, Gloria Gaines,  

Russell Gray, Anthony Jones, Clinton Johnson and Ed Newsome.  Also present were, County 

Attorney Alex Shalishali, Deputy County Clerk Bristeria Hope, and other staff.  The public 

and representatives of the media participated in person and via live streaming of the meeting 

on the County’s Facebook page and the government public access channel.  County 

Administrator Michael McCoy and County Clerk Jawahn Ware were absent. 

 

After the invocation and Pledge of Allegiance by the Chairman, he called for approval of the 

minutes of the January 9th Regular Meeting.   

 

Commissioner Jones moved for approval.  Upon a second by Commissioner Johnson, the 

minutes were unanimously approved. 

 

The Chairman recognized Sherwood Christian Academy Headmaster, Kenny Roberts, 

Varsity Football team, Cheer Squad and Head Coaches for their recent accomplishments and 

accept the proclamation from the Board of Commissioners commemorating the season.  The 

proclamation read as follows: 

 

A PROCLAMATION 

BY THE BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS OF DOUGHERTY COUNTY, GEORGIA 

COMMEMORATING THE EXTRAORDINARY SEASON OF THE SHERWOOD 

CHRISTIAN ACADEMY EAGLES FOOTBALL TEAM. 

WHEREAS, the State Champion Sherwood Christian Academy Eagles football team, 

led by head coach, Kenneth Roberts, achieved a historic season this year, finishing No. 1 in 

the State of Georgia and 295th nationally;  

WHEREAS, in winning the Georgia Association of Private and Parochial Schools  

AA Division 8-Man Football State Championship on November 25, 2022, the Eagles won 

their second football state championship in school history; 

WHEREAS, on October 21, 2022, the Eagles also won the Georgia Association of  

4

Item 3a.



 

 

Private and Parochial Schools Region 2AA Championship, which was its fourth region 

championship in school history: 

WHEREAS, the Eagles finished their historic 2022 Season with eleven wins and one 

loss; 

 

WHEREAS, the Eagles were led by seniors William Price, Hudson Carter,  

Graham Anderson and Maddox Powers, and featured All-State and All-Region players  

William Price, Hudson Carter, Graham Anderson, Easton Enfinger, and Tripp Roberts along 

with other key contributors; 

 

NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED that the Board of Commissioners of 

Dougherty County acknowledges Sherwood Christian Academy for its historic championship 

season.  As a Board we wish to extend our warmest congratulations to the SCA Eagles 

football team and commend them for the pride they brought to Dougherty County. 

 

 This the 6th day of February, 2023. 

       

        

BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS OF  

      DOUGHERTY COUNTY, GEORGIA 

 

       

     BY:____________________________________ 

      LORENZO L. HEARD, Chairman 

Dougherty County Commission 

 

The Chairman recognized citizen Corinth Taylor to share concerns about the most recent tax 

sale.  He mentioned that he purchased some property at the tax sale and the house was in 

demolition.  His concern was that no one informed him of the demolition of the property.  

Chairman Heard redirected him to Attorney Shalishali.  Commissioner Gray shared an 

overview of the overlapping process between the City of Albany and Dougherty County.  

 

The Chairman called for consideration of the resolution providing for the acceptance of the 

bid from the lowest, most responsive and responsible vendor Preventia Security (Albany, Ga) 

to replace the fire alarm system for the Department of Human Services in the amount of 

$72,333.73, subject to the execution of the contract by the County Administrator.  Funding is 

budgeted in DHS CIP.   

 

5

Item 3a.



 

 

Commissioner Johnson moved for approval.  Upon a second by Commissioner Jones, the 

motion for approval passed unanimously.  Resolution 23-002 is entitled: 

 

A RESOLUTION 

ENTITLED 

A RESOLUTION PROVIDING FOR THE ACCEPTANCE AND 

EXECUTION OF THE CONTRACT TO ACCEPT THE BID TO 

REPLACE THE FIRE ALARM SYSTEM FOR THE DEPARTMENT OF 

HUMAN SERVICES FROM THE LOWEST RESPONSIVE AND 

RESPONSIBLE VENDOR MEETING SPECIFICATIONS, PREVENTIA 

SECURITY; REPEALING RESOLUTIONS OR PARTS OF 

RESOLUTIONS IN CONFLICT HEREWITH; 

AND FOR OTHER PURPOSES. 

 

The Chairman called for consideration of the resolution providing for the acceptance of the 

bid from the most responsive and responsible vendor Metro Waterproofing (Scottdale, Ga) to 

weatherproof and restore the exterior wall for the Dougherty County Health Department in the 

amount of $135,000, subject to execution by the County Administrator. Funding is budgeted 

in SPLOST VII.   

 

Commissioner Jones moved for approval.  Upon a second by Commissioner Newsome, the 

motion for approval passed unanimously.  Resolution 23-003 is entitled: 

 

A RESOLUTION 

ENTITLED 

A RESOLUTION PROVIDING FOR THE ACCEPTANCE AND 

EXECUTION OF THE CONTRACT TO ACCEPT THE BID TO 

WEATHERPROOF AND RESTORE THE EXTERIOR WALL FOR 

THE DOUGHERTY COUNTY HEALTH DEPARTMENT FROM 

THE LOWEST RESPONSIVE AND RESPONSIBLE VENDOR 

MEETING SPECIFICATIONS, METRO WATERPROOFING; 

REPEALING RESOLUTIONS OR PARTS OF RESOLUTIONS IN 

CONFLICT HEREWITH; 

AND FOR OTHER PURPOSES. 

 

The Chairman called for consideration of the resolution providing for the acceptance of the 

bid from the most responsive and responsible vendor Crosby Roofing and Gutter, LLC 

(Macon, Ga) to provide roof restoration services for the Albany Rescue Mission in the amount 

of $57,500, subject to the execution of the contract by the County Administrator.  Funding is 

budgeted in ARPA. 

6

Item 3a.



 

 

 

Commissioner Jones moved for approval.  Upon a second by Commissioner Edwards, the 

motion for approval passed unanimously.  Resolution 23-004 is entitled: 

 

A RESOLUTION 

ENTITLED 

A RESOLUTION PROVIDING FOR THE ACCEPTANCE AND 

EXECUTION OF THE CONTRACT TO ACCEPT THE BID TO 

PROVIDE ROOF RESTORATION SERVICES FOR THE ALBANY 

RESCUE MISSION FROM THE LOWEST RESPONSIVE AND 

RESPONSIBLE VENDOR MEETING SPECIFICATIONS, CROSBY 

ROOFING AND GUTTER, LLC; REPEALING RESOLUTIONS OR 

PARTS OF RESOLUTIONS IN CONFLICT HEREWITH; 

AND FOR OTHER PURPOSES. 

 

The Chairman called for consideration of the resolution providing for the amendment of 

Section II-4: Compensation Administration of the Dougherty County Board of Commissioners 

Personnel Policies & Procedures manual retroactive on January 1, 2023. 

 

Commissioner Jones moved for approval.  Upon a second by Commissioner Gray, the motion 

for approval passed unanimously.  Resolution 23-005 is entitled: 

 

A RESOLUTION 

ENTITLED 

A RESOLUTION PROVIDING FOR THE AMENDMENT OF 

THE COMPENSATION ADMINISTRATION OF THE 

DOUGHERTY COUNTY BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS 

PERSONNEL POLICIES AND PROCEDURES MANUAL; 

REPEALING RESOLUTIONS OR PARTS OF RESOLUTIONS IN 

CONFLICT HEREWITH; 

AND FOR OTHER PURPOSES. 

 

The Chairman called for consideration of the resolution declaring the listed vehicles and 

equipment as surplus and authorizing the disposal of or sale of same via an online auction.   

 

Commissioner Jones moved for approval.  Upon a second by Commissioner Johnson, the 

motion for approval passed unanimously.  Resolution 23-006 is entitled: 

 

A RESOLUTION 

ENTITLED 

7

Item 3a.



 

 

A RESOLUTION DECLARING AS SURPLUS THE 

ATTACHED LIST OF EQUIPMENT AND VEHICLES; 

PROVIDING FOR DISPOSAL OF OR SALE OF SAME VIA 

AN ONLINE AUCTION; REPEALING PRIOR RESOLUTIONS 

IN CONFLICT; AND FOR OTHER PURPOSES 

 

The Chairman called for consideration of the proposed Board appointments:  

 

Upon nomination by Commissioner Johnson, Julian Marcus was appointed 

to the Golden Triangle RC&D Council for a two-year unexpired term 

ending December 31, 2024.  He received four ayes from Commissioner 

Johnson, Commissioner Edwards, Chairman Heard and Commissioner 

Gaines and two nays.  The nomination for David Gregors made by 

Commissioner Gray failed by receiving only two votes from Commissioner 

Gray and Commissioner Newsome.  Commissioner Jones abstained from 

this nomination due to personal conflict.  

 

Upon appointment by Chairman Heard, Rhonda Stewart was appointed to 

the Retirement Fund Committee for a four-year unexpired term ending 

December 31, 2026 as the citizen appointee. 

 

The Chairman called for the consideration of a budget amendment to the FY23 approved 

budget for the Tax Department.  The Commission approved Cell Tower Solutions to  

re-evaluate the cell towers in Dougherty County in the January 23, 2023 Regular Meeting.  

The total cost for the re-valuation is $170,000 and the amount was not budgeted.  The 

recommendation is to utilize the Fund Balance to increase the FY23 Budget.  Finance 

Director Martha Hendley addressed. 

 

Commissioner Johnson moved for approval.  Commissioner Gray seconded the motion.  

Under discussion, Ms. Josey shared that Cell Tower Solutions will start working next month. 

Commissioner Gaines asked for a report after the completion of the reevaluation.  Ms. Josey 

said that an update will be provided around the tax digest time.  There being no further 

discussion, the motion for approval passed unanimously. 

 

The Chairman called for consideration to accept the Criminal Justice Coordinating Council 

(CJCC) VOCA Grant # C22-8-076 for FY 2022-2023 in the amount of $210,319.  The local 

matching funds amount of $52,580 was waived for all offices.  The grant acceptance is 

required annually.  Donna Garcia, Victim Witness Assistance Director addressed.  Ms. Garcia 

said that there is a new requirement that involves a copy of the approved minutes by the 

Board to be included with the grant.  

8

Item 3a.



 

 

 

Commissioner Johnson moved for approval.  Upon a second by Commissioner Gray, the 

motion for approval passed unanimously. 

 

Commissioner Edwards asked that a discussion regarding the youth programs be placed on 

the work session.  Commissioner Gaines wanted an update on the goals from the retreat.  

Chairman Heard shared that the report will be ready within 30 days. 

 

There being no further business to come before the Commission, the meeting adjourned at  

10:34 a.m. 

 

 

_______________________________ 

CHAIRMAN 

 

ATTEST: 

 

_______________________ 

COUNTY CLERK 

9

Item 3a.



DOUGHERTY COUNTY COMMISSION 

                                DRAFT  

WORK SESSION MEETING MINUTES 

 

February 13, 2023 

 

The Dougherty County Commission met in Room 100 of the Albany-Dougherty Government 

Center on February 13, 2023.  Chairman Lorenzo Heard presided and called the meeting to 

order at 10:00 am.  Present were Commissioners Victor Edwards, Gloria Gaines, Russell Gray, 

Clinton Johnson, Anthony Jones and Ed Newsome.  Also present were County Administrator 

Michael McCoy, County Attorney Alex Shalishali, County Clerk Jawahn Ware and other staff.  

The public and representatives of the media participated in person via live streaming of the 

meeting on the County’s Facebook page and the government public access channel.  After the 

roll call, Chairman Heard provided an invocation. 

 

The Chairman asked the Commission to review the minutes of the January 23rd Regular 

Meeting, January 27th Annual Retreat and January 30th Work Session. 

 

The Chairman recognized Bárbara Rivera Holmes, President and CEO, and Bridges Sinyard, 

Government Affairs Division Chairman, Albany Area Chamber of Commerce to update the 

Commission on the inaugural class of the nonpartisan Political Leadership Institute.   

Ms. Holmes shared that the primary goal was to get citizens engaged in the community.  

Members of the class were recognized and the Board provided sentiments.  

 

The Chairman called for a discussion to accept the bid for Facilities Management to replace 

the flooring at the Dougherty County Police Department from Katz Flooring Covering 

(Leesburg, GA) in the amount of $86,500.  Five bids were received with the highest being 

$250,000.  Funding is budgeted in SPLOST VII. County Administrator Michael McCoy 

addressed.  Facilities Management Director Heidi Hailey and City of Albany Buyer  

Ricky Gladney were present. 

 

The Chairman called for a discussion to purchase three pumper trucks for use by the Albany 

Fire Department from Ten8 Fire and Safety Equipment of Georgia, LLC (Forsyth, GA) in the 

amount of $3,020,103.  Ten8 Fire and Safety is the authorized distributor for the Sourcewell 

Contract vendor Pierce Manufacturing.  The pumpers will be the 2026 model and approval is 

requested because delivery is anticipated approximately 36 months after the order is received.  

Funding will be budgeted in SPLOST VIII.  County Administrator Michael McCoy addressed.  

City of Albany Fleet Management Department Asset Supervisor Dale Henry was present.   

Mr. McCoy said that there are supply chain issues and we will have to wait 36 months, so 

approval is needed now for the replacement.  He added that this will work well for the County 

because we will be collecting the funds.  Chief Scott addressed the Board's questions and 

shared future needs.  He provided updates on the ISO ratings, the trucks that would be impacted 

and shared short-term life-saving measures.  Commissioner Johnson would like water needs 

to still be considered.  Commissioner Edwards’ concern was addressed by Chief Scott about 

the County logo being placed on the vehicles purchased by Dougherty County.  In layman’s 

terms, the Chief shared that it is not in the best interest [for any government] to draw unneeded 

10

Item 3a.



attention or create a problem that does not exist with the vehicles.  Chief stated that it is not 

hidden how fire protection is provided and the City is the County’s provider.  Commissioner 

Edwards still requested to have the decal on the vehicles, and he wanted suggestions from 

Chief Scott and PIO Wendy Howell.  Chairman Heard proposed that he speak to the Mayor on 

this matter.  It was not clear how action would pursue.  Other comments and concerns were 

shared by the Board. 

 

The Chairman called for a discussion to approve the alcohol application from R and S 2023 

LLC., Saif Ullah licensee, dba R and S Food Mart, at 700 Cordele Rd for Package- Beer.  The 

Albany-Dougherty Marshal’s Office recommended approval.  Chief Deputy Anthony 

Donaldson, Code Enforcement Department, addressed.  Commissioner Edwards had a 

question regarding a citizen not being able to use a vendor’s restroom and wanted the 

Commission to enforce allowing the public to use the restrooms.  Chief Donaldson responded 

with the different entity's role in the process and Attorney Shalishali said that he would do 

further research. 

 

Commissioner Edwards asked that the youth program be placed on a work session to develop 

the program before the summer.  Mr. McCoy shared that the information is pending prior to 

the Recreation Meeting being released on February 27, 2023.  Commissioner Jones announced 

the recognition of United Way’s 211 Day.   

  

There being no further business to discuss the Commission the meeting adjourned at  

11:12 a.m. 

 
 

_______________________________ 

CHAIRMAN 

 

ATTEST: 

_______________________ 

COUNTY CLERK 

11

Item 3a.



12

Item 5a.



13

Item 5a.



14

Item 5a.



15

Item 5b.



16

Item 5b.



17

Item 5b.



18

Item 5c.



19

Item 5c.



20

Item 5c.



21

Item 5c.



22

Item 5c.



23

Item 5c.



      Michael McCoy 
                   County Administrator 

 

 

 

 

                                                        

 DOUGHERTY COUNTY BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS 

                                ADMINISTRATION 

        

 

   
 

 
222 PINE AVENUE | SUITE 540 | ALBANY, GEORGIA 31701 | 229.431.2121 | dougherty.ga.us 

Agenda Item 
 

Date:    February 20, 2023 
  
Meeting Date: February 27, 2023 
 
Subject/Title:  Pole Cameras for DCP 
 
Presented for:  Decision 
 
Presenter:   Michael McCoy, County Administrator 
 
Statement of Issue: 
 

DCP is requesting to purchase ten Pole Cameras to be installed at various locations 
throughout the county. 
 
History/Facts and Issues: 
 

DCP is requesting to purchase ten pole cameras from the sole source vendor Flock Safety 
in the amount of $58,500. The payment amount will be broken down into two annual 
payments (year #1 $31,000 and year #2 $27,500).  This quote includes the pole cameras, 
set-up, testing, and license plate readers with data retrieval capabilities. The pole 
cameras will be installed in various locations throughout Dougherty County and will assist 
in criminal investigations by analyzing vehicle license plates, state recognition, and 
vehicle attributes such as color, type, make, and objects.  
  
Recommended Action: 
 

Recommend Dougherty County Commission approves the purchase of pole cameras for 
a total expenditure of $58,500 from Flock Safety (Atlanta, GA). 
 
Funding Source: 
 

Special Services District Fund 

24

Item 5d.



25

Item 6a.



26

Item 6a.



27

Item 6a.



28

Item 6a.



29

Item 6a.



30

Item 6a.



31

Item 6a.



32

Item 6a.



33

Item 6a.



34

Item 6a.



35

Item 6a.



36

Item 6a.



37

Item 6a.



38

Item 6b.



39

Item 6b.



40

Item 6b.



41

Item 6b.



42

Item 6b.



43

Item 6b.



44

Item 6b.



45

Item 6b.



46

Item 6b.



47

Item 6b.



48

Item 6b.



49

Item 6b.



50

Item 6b.



Dougherty County COVID-19 Guidelines (Revised 1/26/2023) P a g e  | 1 

 

Dougherty County COVID-19 Guidelines 

Dougherty County is focused on providing our employees with information and available 

resources to assist them with navigating through this unusual and uncharted period in our country’s 

history. We are continuously monitoring and developing continuity plans to ensure our teams are 

well-positioned to continue providing essential services to our residents throughout the COVID-

19 pandemic.  

Our new normal is changing daily and we are continually adapting our operations and solutions as 

a result. We are making strides to develop and evolve our resources available to employees during 

these uncertain times. The following guidelines are shared to provide employees with baseline 

information for leave usage and available resources. As the situation evolves, our priority remains 

the health and wellbeing of our employees. Stay well and know that we sincerely recognize the 

gravity of the current situation. Our entire leadership team is ready and willing to support you in 

any way that we can. 

 

Guidelines to Prevent and Reduce Transmission Among Employees 

 

• The mandatory mask mandate is no longer in affect. Although not required, employees, 

visitors and citizens that wish to continue to wear a mask are encouraged to do so. 

• Staggered lunch schedules/breaks may be administered to avoid congregations in break 

rooms. 

51

Item 6c.



Dougherty County COVID-19 Guidelines (Revised 1/26/2023) P a g e  | 2 

• Practice routine cleaning and disinfection of frequently touched objects and surfaces such 

as workstations, keyboards, telephones, handrails, and doorknobs. Dirty surfaces can be 

cleaned with soap and water prior to disinfection.  

• Avoid using other employees’ phones, desks, offices, or other work tools and equipment, 

when possible. Clean and disinfect them before and after use. 

• Employees are encouraged to: 

o Wash their hands often with soap and water for at least 20 seconds or to use hand 

sanitizer with at least 60% alcohol if soap and water are not available. 

o Avoid touching their eyes, nose, and mouth with unwashed hands. 

o Cover their mouth and nose with a tissue when coughing or sneezing or use the 

inside of their elbow. Throw used tissues into no-touch trash cans and 

immediately wash hands with soap and water for at least 20 seconds.  

 

Guidelines for Employees Exhibiting Symptoms 

COVID-19 Symptoms: 

• Fever or Chills 

• Cough 

• Shortness of breath or difficulty 

breathing 

• Fatigue 

• Muscle or body aches 

• Headache 

• New loss of taste or smell 

• Sore throat 

• Congestion or runny nose 

• Nausea or vomiting 

• Diarrhea 

Employees that Exhibit Symptoms 

• Employees who have symptoms should notify their supervisor and NOT report to work.  

o Employees who report to work and exhibit symptoms will be removed from 

the workplace.  

1. Get tested (Local testing facilities are listed on pages 6 & 7). 

2. Provide instructions from the medical provider and test results immediately to your 

supervisor.   

3. Follow the directives of the Medical Provider (i.e., self-isolate the designated number of 

days and/or recommendation to retest). 

4. Employee should complete an FMLA application and utilize available sick/annual 

leave during this period. 

 

 

 

52

Item 6c.



Dougherty County COVID-19 Guidelines (Revised 1/26/2023) P a g e  | 3 

 

Guidelines for Employees that Test Positive 

Employees that test Positive for COVID-19 

• Employee should isolate for 5 days and NOT report to work.  

• Provide instructions from the medical provider immediately to your supervisor. 

• Follow the directives of the Medical Provider (i.e., self-isolate the designated number of 

days and/or recommendation to retest). 

• Employee may return to work under the following conditions: 

o At least 5 days have passed since symptoms first appeared with proof of a 

negative test result AND 

o At least 24 hours have passed since recovery defined as resolution of fever 

without the use of fever-reducing medications and improvement in symptoms 

(e.g., cough, shortness of breath) AND 

• Employees that are asymptomatic or do not have any symptoms may return to work after 

day 5; with proof of a negative test result.  

• If employee continues to have fever or your other symptoms have not improved after 5 

days of isolation, employee should wait to end isolation until fever free for 24 hours with 

the use of fever-reducing medication and other symptoms have improved. 

• Employee should complete an FMLA application and utilize available sick/annual 

leave during this period. 

                                        

Guidelines for Employees Exposed to COVID-19 

• Employees who have been in close contact with someone who has COVID-19 should 

quarantine for 5 days and monitor their health.  

o Close contact means: 

▪ You were within 6 feet of someone who has COVID-19 for a total of 15 

minutes or more over a 24-hour period,  

▪ You provided care at home to someone who is sick with COVID-19. 

▪ You had direct physical contact with the person (hugged or kissed them). 

▪ You shared eating or drinking utensils. 

▪ They sneezed, coughed, or somehow got respiratory droplets on you. 

 

53

Item 6c.



Dougherty County COVID-19 Guidelines (Revised 1/26/2023) P a g e  | 4 

• Employee may return to work: 

o After day 5 with a negative test result.  

o Should employee become symptomatic, refer to the guideline for “Employees 

Exhibiting Symptoms” 

• Employee should update their supervisor immediately.  

• Employee should complete an FMLA application and utilize available sick/annual 

leave during this period. 

 

Guidelines for Employees who have been Ordered to Quarantine 

• Employee should NOT report to work.  

• Employee should update their Supervisor immediately and submit an electronic copy of 

their orders.  

• Follow the directives of the Medical Provider (i.e., self-quarantine the designated number 

of days and/or recommendation to retest). 

• Employee should complete an FMLA application and utilize available sick/annual 

leave during this period. 

 

Guidelines for Essential Workers 

• Employees who are considered essential workers may follow the aforementioned 

guidelines, unless the Department has been designated by the Department Manager as 

having a critical staff shortage. 

• If your Department has a critical staff shortage designation and you have been exposed to 

COVID-19: 

o Notify your supervisor immediately. 

o Take your temperature before work. 

o Wear a face mask at all times. 

o Practice social distancing in the workplace, as work duties permit. 

o DO NOT report to work or stay at work if you become sick. 

o DO NOT congregate in the break room or other crowded places. 

o DO NOT share headsets or objects used near the face.  

• If your Department has a critical staff shortage designation and you have tested positive 

for COVID-19 and have no symptoms: 

54

Item 6c.



Dougherty County COVID-19 Guidelines (Revised 1/26/2023) P a g e  | 5 

o Notify your supervisor immediately. 

o Your supervisor may modify the length of time that you are able to quarantine 

based on staff needs. If you must report to work: 

▪ Take your temperature before work. 

▪ Wear a face mask at all times. 

▪ Practice social distancing in the workplace, as work duties permit. 

▪ DO NOT report to work or stay at work if you become sick. 

▪ DO NOT congregate in the break room or other crowded places. 

▪ DO NOT share headsets or objects used near the face.  

• If your Department has a critical staff shortage designation and you have tested positive 

for COVID-19 and have symptoms: 

o Notify your supervisor immediately. 

o Your supervisor may modify the length of time that you are able to quarantine 

based on staff needs.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

55

Item 6c.



Dougherty County COVID-19 Guidelines (Revised 1/26/2023) P a g e  | 6 

Available Testing Resources: 
 

Phoebe Corporate Health  

• Both the traditional PCR test and the Rapid Antigen Test (on-site) are currently available. 

• For the PCR Test, you must call 229-312-9220 to schedule an appointment 

 

The Dougherty County Department of Health  

• Both the traditional PCR test and the Rapid Antigen Test (on-site) are currently available. 

• Appointments can be scheduled by calling 229- 352-6567. 

• Online at https://covid19.dph.ga.gov/en-US/ 

 

QuickFix / Southern Spine & Health 

• Both the traditional PCR test and the Rapid Antigen Test (on-site) are currently available. 

• Appointments can be scheduled by calling (229) 405-8900, or in person at 2601 Stuart 

Ave #100, Albany, GA 31707. 

 

Albany Urgent Care 

• Both the traditional PCR test and the Rapid Antigen Test (on-site) are currently available. 

•  Appointments can be scheduled by calling (229) 496-2472, or in person at 2622 Dawson 

Rd, Albany, GA 31707. 

 

OneSource Healthcare 

• Both the traditional PCR test and the Rapid Antigen Test (on-site) are currently available. 

• Appointments can be scheduled by calling (229) 439-1950,  or in person at 701 N 

Slappey Blvd, Albany, GA 31701. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

56

Item 6c.

https://covid19.dph.ga.gov/en-US/
https://www.google.com/search?gs_ssp=eJzj4tVP1zc0TDNMKywyKMwwYLRSMaiwsEgzMk82MU9MTUtJSTZJswIKpZgkmhmmpFmkGZgYJJl6CReWZiZnK6RlVigk5iQl5lUqpCcCADL8Fso&q=quick+fix+albany+ga&rlz=1C1CHBF_enUS866US866&oq=Quick+fix&aqs=chrome.1.0i355j46i175i199j69i57j0i457j0l4.9024j0j15&sourceid=chrome&ie=UTF-8
https://www.google.com/search?rlz=1C1CHBF_enUS866US866&ei=_sG7X9nvLJGSwbkPjaO9wAw&q=albany+urgent+care+albany+ga&oq=Albany+urgen+albany+ga&gs_lcp=CgZwc3ktYWIQARgAMgYIABAHEB46CAgAEAcQChAeOgIIJjoICAAQCBAHEB5QsMkHWMDXB2Dp5QdoAHABeACAAYkCiAG9CZIBBTkuMi4xmAEAoAEBqgEHZ3dzLXdpesABAQ&sclient=psy-ab
https://www.google.com/search?rlz=1C1CHBF_enUS866US866&ei=gMK7X_O6Bv6bwbkP-9C54AE&q=Onesource+albany+ga&oq=Onesource+albany+ga&gs_lcp=CgZwc3ktYWIQAzILCC4QxwEQrwEQkwIyBggAEAcQHjoCCCY6DQguEMcBEK8BEA0QkwI6BAgAEA06BggAEA0QHjoICAAQDRAFEB46CAgAEAgQDRAeUNS3EFjvwBBgmsQQaABwAXgAgAG6AYgBlQeSAQM2LjOYAQCgAQGqAQdnd3Mtd2l6wAEB&sclient=psy-ab&ved=0ahUKEwjz-tzk65jtAhX-TTABHXtoDhwQ4dUDCA0&uact=5


Dougherty County COVID-19 Guidelines (Revised 1/26/2023) P a g e  | 7 

  Available Vaccination Resources: 
 

As a reminder, the Southwest Health District has expanded the Phases for the Covid-19 

Vaccination to include all aged 12 and up.  

Phoebe Corporate Health 

(Albany, Americus and Sylvester 

Locations) (Pfizer) 

Appointments can be scheduled by calling 229-312-1919 

The Dougherty County 

Department of Health (Moderna, 

Pfizer, & Johnson & Johnson) 

Appointments can be scheduled by calling 229-352-6567, or 

online at https://dph.georgia.gov/covid-vaccine  

Albany Area Primary Health 

(Moderna) 

Appointments can be scheduled by calling the Northwest 

Albany location at 229-405-6196 or the South Albany location 

at 229-431-3120 or visit www.aaphc.org/coronavirus  

U-Save-It Pharmacy (Moderna) Appointments can be scheduled by calling any of their 

locations. 

Publix (Moderna) Appointments can be scheduled online by visiting 

https://www.publix.com/covid-vaccine  

Walgreens  (Moderna) Appointments can be scheduled online by visiting 

https://www.walgreens.com/findcare/vaccination/covid-19 

CVS Appointments can be scheduled online by 

visiting  https://www.cvs.com/immunizations/covid-19-

vaccine 

 

 

57

Item 6c.

https://dph.georgia.gov/covid-vaccine
http://www.aaphc.org/coronavirus
https://www.publix.com/covid-vaccine
https://www.walgreens.com/findcare/vaccination/covid-19
https://www.cvs.com/immunizations/covid-19-vaccine
https://www.cvs.com/immunizations/covid-19-vaccine


Dougherty County COVID-19 Guidelines (Revised 1/26/2023) P a g e  | 1 

 

Dougherty County COVID-19 Guidelines 

Dougherty County is focused on providing our employees with information and available 

resources to assist them with navigating through this unusual and uncharted period in our country’s 

history. We are continuously monitoring and developing continuity plans to ensure our teams are 

well-positioned to continue providing essential services to our residents throughout the COVID-

19 pandemic.  

Our new normal is changing daily and we are continually adapting our operations and solutions as 

a result. We are making strides to develop and evolve our resources available to employees during 

these uncertain times. The following guidelines are shared to provide employees with baseline 

information for leave usage and available resources. As the situation evolves, our priority remains 

the health and wellbeing of our employees. Stay well and know that we sincerely recognize the 

gravity of the current situation. Our entire leadership team is ready and willing to support you in 

any way that we can. 

 

Guidelines to Prevent and Reduce Transmission Among Employees 

 

• All County employees are required to wear masks covering their mouth and nose while in 

County buildings and while using County vehicles and equipment.  

• The mandatory mask mandate is no longer in affect. Although not required, employees, 

visitors and citizens that wish to continue to wear a mask are encouraged to do so. 

58

Item 6c.



Dougherty County COVID-19 Guidelines (Revised 1/26/2023) P a g e  | 2 

• Staggered lunch schedules/breaks may be administered to avoid congregations in break 

rooms. 

• County employees shall continue to practice social distancing. Employees are asked to 

stay at least 6 feet apart from each other.  

• Practice routine cleaning and disinfection of frequently touched objects and surfaces such 

as workstations, keyboards, telephones, handrails, and doorknobs. Dirty surfaces can be 

cleaned with soap and water prior to disinfection.  

• Avoid using other employees’ phones, desks, offices, or other work tools and equipment, 

when possible. Clean and disinfect them before and after use. 

• Employees are encouraged to: 

o Wash their hands often with soap and water for at least 20 seconds or to use hand 

sanitizer with at least 60% alcohol if soap and water are not available. 

o Avoid touching their eyes, nose, and mouth with unwashed hands. 

o Cover their mouth and nose with a tissue when coughing or sneezing or use the 

inside of their elbow. Throw used tissues into no-touch trash cans and 

immediately wash hands with soap and water for at least 20 seconds.  

 

Guidelines for Employees Exhibiting Symptoms 

COVID-19 Symptoms: 

• Fever or Chills 

• Cough 

• Shortness of breath or difficulty 

breathing 

• Fatigue 

• Muscle or body aches 

• Headache 

• New loss of taste or smell 

• Sore throat 

• Congestion or runny nose 

• Nausea or vomiting 

• Diarrhea 

Employees that Exhibit Symptoms 

• Employees who have symptoms should notify their supervisor and NOT report to work.  

o Employees who report to work and exhibit symptoms will be removed from 

the workplace.  

1. Get tested (Local testing facilities are listed on pages 6 & 7). 

2. Provide instructions from the medical provider and test results immediately to your 

supervisor.   

3. Follow the directives of the Medical Provider (i.e., self-isolate the designated number of 

days and/or recommendation to retest). 

4. Complete the FFCRA application form for paid leave (up to 80 hours) during your 

quarantine period while awaiting results.  

59

Item 6c.



Dougherty County COVID-19 Guidelines (Revised 1/26/2023) P a g e  | 3 

5. Employee should complete an FMLA application and utilize available sick/annual 

leave during this period. 

 

 

 

 

Guidelines for Employees that Test Positive 

Employees that test Positive for COVID-19 

• Employees should isolate and NOT report to work.  

• Employee should isolate for 5 days and NOT report to work.  

• Provide instructions from the medical provider immediately to your supervisor. 

• Follow the directives of the Medical Provider (i.e., self-isolate the designated number of 

days and/or recommendation to retest). 

• Employee may return to work under the following conditions: 

o At least 10 days have passed since symptoms first appeared AND 

o At least 5 days have passed since symptoms first appeared with proof of a 

negative test result AND 

o At least 24 hours have passed since recovery defined as resolution of fever 

without the use of fever-reducing medications and improvement in symptoms 

(e.g., cough, shortness of breath) AND 

o Other symptoms of COVID-19 are improving. 

▪ Loss of taste and smell may persist for weeks or months after recovery and 

need not delay the end of isolation. 

• Employees that are asymptomatic or do not have any symptoms may return to work after 

day10 5; with proof of a negative test result.  

• If employee continues to have fever or your other symptoms have not improved after 5 

days of isolation, employee should wait to end isolation until fever free for 24 hours with 

the use of fever-reducing medication and other symptoms have improved. 

• Complete the FFCRA application form for paid leave (up to 80 hours) during your 

quarantine period while awaiting results.  

• Employee should complete an FMLA application and utilize available sick/annual 

leave during this period. 

                                        

60

Item 6c.



Dougherty County COVID-19 Guidelines (Revised 1/26/2023) P a g e  | 4 

Guidelines for Employees Exposed to COVID-19 

• Employees who have been in close contact with someone who has COVID-19 should 

quarantine for 5 days and monitor their health.  

o Close contact means: 

▪ You were within 6 feet of someone who has COVID-19 for a total of 15 

minutes or more over a 24-hour period,  

▪ You provided care at home to someone who is sick with COVID-19. 

▪ You had direct physical contact with the person (hugged or kissed them). 

▪ You shared eating or drinking utensils. 

▪ They sneezed, coughed, or somehow got respiratory droplets on you. 

• Employee may return to work: 

o After day 10 5 without testing a negative test result.  

o After day 7 after receiving a negative test result (test must occur on day 5 or later) 

o After stopping quarantine employee should watch for symptoms until 14 days 

after exposure. If symptoms arise please follow the guidelines for employees 

exhibiting symptoms.  

o Should employee become symptomatic, refer to the guideline for “Employees 

Exhibiting Symptoms” 

• Employee should update their Supervisor immediately.  

• Complete the FFCRA application form for paid leave (up to 80 hours) during your 

quarantine period while awaiting results.  

• Employee should complete an FMLA application and utilize available sick/annual 

leave during this period. 

 

Guidelines for Employees who have been Ordered to Quarantine 

• Employee should NOT report to work.  

• Employee should update their Supervisor immediately and submit an electronic copy of 

their orders.  

• Follow the directives of the Medical Provider (i.e., self-quarantine the designated number 

of days and/or recommendation to retest). 

• Complete the FFCRA application form for paid leave (up to 80 hours) during your 

quarantine period while awaiting results.  

• Employee should complete an FMLA application and utilize available sick/annual 

leave during this period. 

61

Item 6c.



Dougherty County COVID-19 Guidelines (Revised 1/26/2023) P a g e  | 5 

 

Guidelines for Essential Workers 

• Employees who are considered essential workers may follow the aforementioned 

guidelines, unless the Department has been designated by the Department Manager as 

having a critical staff shortage. 

• If your Department has a critical staff shortage designation and you have been exposed to 

COVID-19: 

o Notify your supervisor immediately. 

o Take your temperature before work. 

o Wear a face mask at all times. 

o Practice social distancing in the workplace, as work duties permit. 

o DO NOT report to work or stay at work if you become sick. 

o DO NOT congregate in the break room or other crowded places. 

o DO NOT share headsets or objects used near the face.  

• If your Department has a critical staff shortage designation and you have tested positive 

for COVID-19 and have no symptoms: 

o Notify your supervisor immediately. 

o Your supervisor may modify the length of time that you are able to quarantine 

based on staff needs. If you must report to work: 

▪ Take your temperature before work. 

▪ Wear a face mask at all times. 

▪ Practice social distancing in the workplace, as work duties permit. 

▪ DO NOT report to work or stay at work if you become sick. 

▪ DO NOT congregate in the break room or other crowded places. 

▪ DO NOT share headsets or objects used near the face.  

• If your Department has a critical staff shortage designation and you have tested positive 

for COVID-19 and have symptoms: 

o Notify your supervisor immediately. 

o Your supervisor may modify the length of time that you are able to quarantine 

based on staff needs.  

 

 

 

62

Item 6c.



Dougherty County COVID-19 Guidelines (Revised 1/26/2023) P a g e  | 6 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Available Testing Resources: 
 

Phoebe Corporate Health  

• Both the traditional PCR test and the Rapid Antigen Test (on-site) are currently available. 

• For the PCR Test, you must call 229-312-9220 to schedule an appointment 

 

The Dougherty County Department of Health  

• Both the traditional PCR test and the Rapid Antigen Test (on-site) are currently available. 

• Appointments can be scheduled by calling 229- 352-6567. 

• Online at https://covid19.dph.ga.gov/en-US/ 

 

QuickFix / Southern Spine & Health 

• Both the traditional PCR test and the Rapid Antigen Test (on-site) are currently available. 

• Appointments can be scheduled by calling (229) 405-8900, or in person at 2601 Stuart 

Ave #100, Albany, GA 31707. 

 

63

Item 6c.

https://covid19.dph.ga.gov/en-US/
https://www.google.com/search?gs_ssp=eJzj4tVP1zc0TDNMKywyKMwwYLRSMaiwsEgzMk82MU9MTUtJSTZJswIKpZgkmhmmpFmkGZgYJJl6CReWZiZnK6RlVigk5iQl5lUqpCcCADL8Fso&q=quick+fix+albany+ga&rlz=1C1CHBF_enUS866US866&oq=Quick+fix&aqs=chrome.1.0i355j46i175i199j69i57j0i457j0l4.9024j0j15&sourceid=chrome&ie=UTF-8


Dougherty County COVID-19 Guidelines (Revised 1/26/2023) P a g e  | 7 

Albany Urgent Care 

• Both the traditional PCR test and the Rapid Antigen Test (on-site) are currently available. 

•  Appointments can be scheduled by calling (229) 496-2472, or in person at 2622 Dawson 

Rd, Albany, GA 31707. 

 

OneSource Healthcare 

• Both the traditional PCR test and the Rapid Antigen Test (on-site) are currently available. 

• Appointments can be scheduled by calling (229) 439-1950,  or in person at 701 N 

Slappey Blvd, Albany, GA 31701. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  Available Vaccination Resources: 
 

As a reminder, the Southwest Health District has expanded the Phases for the Covid-19 

Vaccination to include all aged 12 and up.  

Phoebe Corporate Health 

(Albany, Americus and Sylvester 

Locations) (Pfizer) 

Appointments can be scheduled by calling 229-312-1919 

The Dougherty County 

Department of Health (Moderna, 

Pfizer, & Johnson & Johnson) 

Appointments can be scheduled by calling 229-352-6567, or 

online at https://dph.georgia.gov/covid-vaccine  

Albany Area Primary Health 

(Moderna) 

Appointments can be scheduled by calling the Northwest 

Albany location at 229-405-6196 or the South Albany location 

at 229-431-3120 or visit www.aaphc.org/coronavirus  

U-Save-It Pharmacy (Moderna) Appointments can be scheduled by calling any of their 

locations. 

64

Item 6c.

https://www.google.com/search?rlz=1C1CHBF_enUS866US866&ei=_sG7X9nvLJGSwbkPjaO9wAw&q=albany+urgent+care+albany+ga&oq=Albany+urgen+albany+ga&gs_lcp=CgZwc3ktYWIQARgAMgYIABAHEB46CAgAEAcQChAeOgIIJjoICAAQCBAHEB5QsMkHWMDXB2Dp5QdoAHABeACAAYkCiAG9CZIBBTkuMi4xmAEAoAEBqgEHZ3dzLXdpesABAQ&sclient=psy-ab
https://www.google.com/search?rlz=1C1CHBF_enUS866US866&ei=gMK7X_O6Bv6bwbkP-9C54AE&q=Onesource+albany+ga&oq=Onesource+albany+ga&gs_lcp=CgZwc3ktYWIQAzILCC4QxwEQrwEQkwIyBggAEAcQHjoCCCY6DQguEMcBEK8BEA0QkwI6BAgAEA06BggAEA0QHjoICAAQDRAFEB46CAgAEAgQDRAeUNS3EFjvwBBgmsQQaABwAXgAgAG6AYgBlQeSAQM2LjOYAQCgAQGqAQdnd3Mtd2l6wAEB&sclient=psy-ab&ved=0ahUKEwjz-tzk65jtAhX-TTABHXtoDhwQ4dUDCA0&uact=5
https://dph.georgia.gov/covid-vaccine
http://www.aaphc.org/coronavirus


Dougherty County COVID-19 Guidelines (Revised 1/26/2023) P a g e  | 8 

Publix (Moderna) Appointments can be scheduled online by visiting 

https://www.publix.com/covid-vaccine  

Walgreens  (Moderna) Appointments can be scheduled online by visiting 

https://www.walgreens.com/findcare/vaccination/covid-19 

CVS Appointments can be scheduled online by 

visiting  https://www.cvs.com/immunizations/covid-19-

vaccine 

 

 

65

Item 6c.

https://www.publix.com/covid-vaccine
https://www.walgreens.com/findcare/vaccination/covid-19
https://www.cvs.com/immunizations/covid-19-vaccine
https://www.cvs.com/immunizations/covid-19-vaccine


MICHAEL R. TABARROK 
3628 Quail Hollow Rd., Albany, Georgia 31721 

 
229.733.3344                                    MichaelTabarrok@yahoo.com 
 
QUALIFICATIONS 
* Litigation Attorney with 23 years experience in Criminal and Civil Cases, including Death Penalty 

Murders, Sex Crimes, RICO, Gang Offenses, Major Drug Offenses, Family Violence, Violent 
Felonies, DUIs, and all other misdemeanors and felonies.  Experience also includes personal injury 
litigation, real estate closings, civil litigation, and extensive asset forfeiture civil  

 
EMPLOYMENT 
 
Attorney General of Georgia                September 2022 
Assistant Attorney General  
Gang Prosecution Unit 
 
Dougherty Judicial Circuit District Attorney’s Office                                        2012-2022 
Deputy Chief Assistant District Attorney                   Albany, Georgia 
 
South Georgia Judicial Circuit District Attorney’s Office                                          2011-2012 
Assistant District Attorney                   Bainbridge, Georgia 
 
Attorney General’s Office of Guam               2010-2011 
Assistant Attorney General           Hagatna, Guam, USA 
 
Michael R. Tabarrok, Trial Attorney and Counselor at Law, Ltd.,                     2007-2010 
Solo Criminal and Civil Litigation Practice                 Richmond Hill, Georgia  
 
Law Offices of Gary Wisenbaker                                                     2006-2007 
Head of Civil Litigation                  Savannah, Georgia 
 
Chatham County District Attorney’s Office                                           2000-2006 
Assistant District Attorney                     Savannah, Georgia 
 
Houston County District Attorney’s Office                                          1999-2000 
Assistant District Attorney                       Perry, Georgia 
 
EDUCATION 
Mercer University School of Law  Auburn University 
Macon, Georgia     Auburn Alabama                                                        
Juris Doctorate, 1999    B.A. in Economics,  

Business Concentration, History Minor 1995 
PROFESSIONAL MEMBERSHIPS 
State Bar of Georgia (1999-current)                 Dougherty County Bar Association (2012-current) 
YMCA Board of Directors, 2015-Current (President 2021 and 2022) 
Lily Pad SANE Center Board of Directors 2016-Current 

66

Item 6e.



GRADE

0'

T/ TANK

74'±

EXIST PAD+PIER 

FOUNDATION TO REMAIN 

(CONC ENCASEMENT 

NOT SHOWN)

UPLIFT / COMPRESSION 

ANCHORS AT EACH 

TANK FOUNDATION

EXIST RADIUM SPRINGS 

WATER TOWER STRUCTURE

CONCRETE 

ENCASEMENT 

6
'±

S2

04

1
7
' 
E
M

B
E
D

EXIST CLIMB LADDER TO 

BE REPLACED WITH NEW

EXIST WATER 

TOWER

(2) UPLIFT/COMPRESSION ANCHORS

2
0
'-6

"±

CONCRETE ENCASEMENT

CONNECTION FRAME
S2

01

4917 PROFESSIONAL CT, 

SUITE 105
RALEIGH, NC  27609

ph: (919) 871-0744

TAE, Inc. (C-1290)

PROJECT NO:

ISSUED:

DWG :

CHK :

SHEET

OF

FOUNDATION

MODIFICATIONS

RADIUM SPRINGS WT

110 Camellia Rd
Albany, GA

S1
22507-02

TAE

RTT

08/31/2022

3/32" = 1'-0"
01

ELEVATION
3/16" = 1'-0"

02
FOUNDATION MOD PLAN

Rev. Date Description

0 08/31/22 ISSUED FOR
CONSTRUCTION

67

Item 7a.



3'-3" 3'-3"

1
'-
6
"

9
"

9
"

3" 3"3" 3"

± 2' x 2.5' PIER

± 4' x 3' PAD 1'-3" ±1'-3" ±

C15x33.9

C15x33.9

C
1
2

x2
0

.7

C
1
2

x2
0

.7

C
1
2

x2
0

.7

C
1
2

x2
0

.7

C
1
2

x2
0

.7

C
1
2

x2
0

.7

FIELD VERIFY

13"±

8.5"±

EXIST DOUBLE C9 

TANK LEG

EDGE OF FND PIER BELOW

EDGE OF FND PAD BELOW

CL OF TANK LEG & UPLIFT ANCHOR FRAME

02

S2

03

S2

04

S2

1/4

1" TOP/BOTT PL 

FIELD WELDED 

TO C12

1
7
' 
E
M

B
E
D

HELICAL PILE DATA SUMMARY:

PILE TYPE: ROUND SHAFT 

HELICAL PILE

SHAFT MATL: RS3500.300

(3.5 x 0.30 ROUND 

PIPE SHAFT)

HELICAL CONFIG:12" / 14" / 14" 

BID LENGTH: 26 FT 

17 FT EMBED

MIN CAPACITY: 50 K ULTIMATE

6
'±

02

S2

03

S2

UPLIFT / 

COMPRESSION 

ANCHOR. SEE 

DATA SUMMARY. 

(2) ANCHORS EA 

TANK LEG

EXIST FND PAD

EXIST FND PIER

CONC 

ENCASEMENT

GRADE

EXIST DOUBLE C9 TANK LEG

2
'-
6
" 
±

1
'-
6
" 
±

FND PAD

±4' x 3'

FND PIER

±2' x 2.5'
2
"±

1/4

1
6
"±

4
" 
C
LR

1
8
"±

TOP OF FND PIER

TOP OF CONC 

ENCASEMENT

1/4 C15

C12

EXIST DOUBLE 

C9 TANK LEG

EXIST HOLE IN 

DOUBLE C9 

WEB DUE TO 

CORROSION

3/4" 

A325, 

TYP

TOP PL 1.5"x11"x11" 

FIELD WELDED TO C12

BOTT PL 1.5"x13"x13" 

FIELD WELDED TO C12

C12

C15

3/4" A325, TYP

UPLIFT / 

COMPRESSION 

ANCHOR

1/4

CONC ENCASEMENT2
"±

4917 PROFESSIONAL CT, 

SUITE 105
RALEIGH, NC  27609

ph: (919) 871-0744

TAE, Inc. (C-1290)

PROJECT NO:

ISSUED:

DWG :

CHK :

SHEET

OF

UPLIFT / COMP

ANCHOR FRAME

RADIUM SPRINGS WT

110 Camellia Rd
Albany, GA

S2
22507-02

TAE

RTT

08/31/2022

Rev. Date Description

0 08/31/22 ISSUED FOR
CONSTRUCTION

3/4" = 1'-0"
01

ANCHOR FRAME PLAN
1/2" = 1'-0"

04
ANCHOR ELEVATION

3/4" = 1'-0"
03

LEG CONN TO FRAME
3/4" = 1'-0"

02
ANCHOR CONN TO FRAME

68

Item 7a.



02

S3

03

S3

8'-2"

4
'-
6
"

2
'-
3
"

2
'-
3
"

#3 TIES @ 12" O.C.

#3 VERT @ 12" O.C., EA FACE

EXIST FND PIER

UPLIFT / 

COMPRESSION 

ANCHOR

CONC 

ENCASEMENT

03

S3

01

S3

5
'-
3
" 
±

BOTT OF ENCASEMENT & 

TOP OF EXIST FND PAD

2
"±

1
'-
6
" 
±

GRADE

REINF, SEE 

01/S3

02

S3

01

S3

EXIST FND PIER

EXIST FND PAD

2'-3" 2'-3"

ENCASEMENT REINF, 

SEE 01/S3

CONC ENCASEMENT

GRADE

BOTT OF CONC ENCASEMENT 

= TOP OF EXIST FND PAD

EXIST TANK LEG

PROPOSED ANCHOR FRAME

PROPOSED CONC ENCASEMENT

REINF, SEE 01/S3

UPLIFT / COMPRESSION ANCHORS

4917 PROFESSIONAL CT, 

SUITE 105
RALEIGH, NC  27609

ph: (919) 871-0744

TAE, Inc. (C-1290)

PROJECT NO:

ISSUED:

DWG :

CHK :

SHEET

OF

CONCRETE

ENCASEMENT

RADIUM SPRINGS WT

110 Camellia Rd
Albany, GA

S3
22507-02

TAE

RTT

08/31/2022

Rev. Date Description

0 08/31/22 ISSUED FOR
CONSTRUCTION

1/2" = 1'-0"
01

CONC ENCASEMENT PLAN

1/2" = 1'-0"
02

CONC ENCASEMENT FRONT

1/2" = 1'-0"
03

CONC ENCASEMENT SIDE

04
CONC ENCASEMENT

69

Item 7a.



UPLIFT / COMPRESSION 

ANCHORS

FOUNDATION 

MODIFICATION

FIN GRADE

RADIUM SPRINGS 

WATER TANK 

STRUCTURE

REMOVE EXIST CLIMB 

LADDER AND REPLACE 

WITH NEW, SEE S5 

FOR DETAILS

ANCHOR TOP PLATE

UPLIFT/ 

COMPRESSION 

ANCHOR

C15 ANCHOR FRAME

EXIST DOUBLE C9 TANK LEG

C12 ON EACH SIDE OF TANK LEG

C12 ON EA 

SIDE OF 

ANCHOR

4917 PROFESSIONAL CT, 

SUITE 105
RALEIGH, NC  27609

ph: (919) 871-0744

TAE, Inc. (C-1290)

PROJECT NO:

ISSUED:

DWG :

CHK :

SHEET

OF

ISOMETRIC

RADIUM SPRINGS WT

110 Camellia Rd
Albany, GA

S4
22507-02

TAE

RTT

08/31/202201
TOWER ISOMETRIC

Rev. Date Description

0 08/31/22 ISSUED FOR
CONSTRUCTION

02
ANCHOR FRAME

70

Item 7a.



1'-6"

1
'-
0
"

3/4" LADDER RUNGS 

WELDED TO FLAT BAR. 

DRILL HOLES IN FLAT 

BAR FOR RUNGS

3/8" x 2" FLAT BAR 

LADDER RAIL

EXIST TANK LEG

EXIST DBL C9 TANK LEG

7" CLR

3/8" PLATE CONN 

@ 10' O/C MAX

3/8" x 2" LADDER RAIL

3/4" LADDER RUNGS

3/4" CONN BOLTS, 

TYP

03

S5

C
LR7
"

8 1/2" ±

6
"

1'-6"

EXIST DBL C9x13.4 

TOWER LEG

(2) 3/4" BOLTS

3/8" x 2" BENT PL

3/4" BOLT TO FLAT 

BAR LADDER RAIL

LADDER RUNG BEYOND

1'-6"
3/4" BOLT, TYP

LADDER RUNG BEYOND

1
'-
0
"

3/8" x 2" BENT PLATE

EXIST TANK SHELL 

(9.5'± DIA x 3/8"± THK)

3"

1'-0"  CLR

FACE OF EXIST TANK

3/8" PLATE CONN 

@ 5' O/C MAX

3/8" x 2" LADDER RAIL

3/4" LADDER RUNGS

3/4" CONN 

BOLTS, TYP

05

S5

4917 PROFESSIONAL CT, 

SUITE 105
RALEIGH, NC  27609

ph: (919) 871-0744

TAE, Inc. (C-1290)

PROJECT NO:

ISSUED:

DWG :

CHK :

SHEET

OF

LADDER DETAILS

RADIUM SPRINGS WT

110 Camellia Rd
Albany, GA

S5
22507-02

TAE

RTT

08/31/2022

Rev. Date Description

0 08/31/22 ISSUED FOR
CONSTRUCTION

1" = 1'-0"
01

LADDER FRONT
1" = 1'-0"

02
LADDER SIDE AT LEG

1" = 1'-0"
03

LADDER SECTION AT LEG
1" = 1'-0"

05
LADDER SECTION AT TANK

1" = 1'-0"
04

LADDER SIDE AT TANK

71

Item 7a.



1. Codes and Specifications
A. Georgia State Minimum Standard Building Code

a. IBC 2018 with Georgia amendments
2. Notes below are not intended to replace specifications. See specifications for requirements in 

addition to the general notes.
3. Structural Drawings shall be used in conjunction with the project specifications and Architectural 

and other Engineering Drawings.
4. Contractor is responsible for dissemination of revisions to Contract documents and requirements to 

all subcontractors.
5. Contractor shall verify all dimensions, elevations and existing field conditions before proceeding 

with construction.
6. Structural frame shall be braced until erection is complete and permanent connections, bracing 

members and shear walls are installed.
7. In case of conflict between specifications and drawings, the specifications shall govern.
8. All safety and OHSA regulations shall be followed strictly. Methods of construction and erection of 

structural material are the Contractor's responsibility.
9. Section cuts, notes, call-outs, and details shown on these drawings are to be assumed typical 

unless otherwise noted.
10. Details shown but not referenced on the plans shall be assumed typical unless otherwise noted

DESIGN LOADS

1. Codes and Specifications
A. AISC 360 (Specification for Structural Steel Buildings)
B. AWS D1.1 (Structural Welding Code - Steel)

2. Materials
A. W Shape: ASTM A992
B. Channels, Angles and Plates: ASTM A36
C. Rectangular and Round HSS: ASTM A500-Gr. B
D. Pipe: ASTM A53-Gr. B
E. HP Shape: ASTM A572-Gr. 50
F. All other Shapes: ASTM A36
G. Connections

a. Bolts: ASTM A325 UON
b. Welded Headed Studs: ASTM A108-Gr. 1015 or Gr. 1020
c. Anchor Rods: ASTM F1554-Gr.55 UON
d. Welds: ASTM A36

3. Bolts
A. Connection bolts shall be 3/4" Ø UON. 
B. Unless detailed, connections shall be framed (Type 2 Construction). 
C. Design for loads shown in plans or given in Standard AISC Load Tables for span, section 

and strength specified. 
D. Connections shall be bearing type with threads included in the shear planes UON.

4. Welding
A. All shop and field welding shall be executed by welders and welding operators who have 

been previously qualified by test as prescribed in AWS D1.1-04, of the American Welding 
Society to  perform the types of welds required on this project.

B. Return all welds at corners twice the nominal size of the weld  minimum UON.
C. To keep warping to a minimum when welding to existing members carrying load, shore or 

brace existing member during welding.
5. Galvanizing

A. All new structural steel shapes shall be galvanized in accordance with ASTM A123.
B. All new steel bolts, nuts, and hardware shall be galvanized in accordance with ASTM 

A153.
C. Touch up damaged surfaces with galvanic paint.

6. Painting
A. All exposed steel that is not galvanized shall be painted.
B. Shop Painting:  All surfaces shall be given a shop coat, by dipping or spraying of #0730 

Southern Coatings Gray or approved equal (total thickness 2 mils minimum dry). Spot 
paint all field welds and serious abrasions to the shop coatwith paint compatible with the 
shop coat. (Do not paint steel surfaces that are to be in contact with freshly placed 
concrete.)

7. Coping, Blocks, Cut-Outs or Other Cutting
A. Shall have all re-entrant corners shaped, notched free to a radius of at least 1/2".

8. Bracing and Shoring
A. Contractor is responsible for adequate bracing of all walls and steel construction.
B. Composite members on which formwork is supported shall be shored at the quarter 

points.
9. General Construction

A. Provide holes for blocking in beam flanges, angles and other structural steel members as 
shown on Architectural drawings.

10. For miscellaneous steel not shown on these drawings, see Architectural and other Engineering 
Drawings.

FFE - Finish Floor Elevation TOF - Top of Footing
UON - Unless Otherwise Noted OC - On Center
CJ - Control Joint CC - Center to Center
EJ - Expansion Joint BB - Back to Back
NTS - Not to Scale TOM - Top of Masonry
EBC - Extend Bottom Chord (@ steel joists) TOS - Top of Stell
TOJ - Top of Joist EW - Each Way
NS - Nearside Ø - Diameter
FS - Farside WWF - Welded Wire Fabric

STRUCTURAL STEEL

ABBREVIATIONS

GENERAL

1. Design based on the Structural Analysis Report by TAE, Inc. dated 08/31/2022

TOWER MODIFICATIONS

1. Modification details represent typical conditions. Contractor shall notify engineer of any 
deviation as a result of site specific conditions.

2. Reinforce all tower faces and foundations identically, unless otherwise noted.
3. In areas to be modified, any antenna, coax, or conduit shall be temporarily moved and 

then replaced after completion of work. Coordinate with owner.
4. Contractor is responsible for disposal of all material to be removed.
5. All guy wires shall be re-tensioned after completion of tower modification.
6. Contractor is responsible for bracing, shoring, and overall tower stability during 

modifications.

4917 PROFESSIONAL CT, 

SUITE 105
RALEIGH, NC  27609

ph: (919) 871-0744

TAE, Inc. (C-1290)

PROJECT NO:

ISSUED:

DWG :

CHK :

SHEET

OF

GENERAL NOTES

RADIUM SPRINGS WT

110 Camellia Rd
Albany, GA

S6
22507-02

TAE

RTT

08/31/2022

Rev. Date Description

0 08/31/22 ISSUED FOR
CONSTRUCTION

72

Item 7a.


	Top
	Item 3a.	Minutes
	2023.02.06 Minutes Regular
	2023.02.13 Minutes Work

	Item 5a.	Purchase 1_PW ROW
	Purchase 1_ROW

	Item 5b.	Purchase 2_PW Riverfront Park
	Purchase 2_Park Landscape and Maint

	Item 5c.	Purchase 3_PW County Parks Mowing
	Purchase 3_Park Mowing

	Item 5d.	Purchase 4_DCP Pole Cameras
	2023.02.27 Recommendation for Flock Cameras

	Item 6a.	Other 1_JAG Superior Court
	JAG_Superior Ct

	Item 6b.	Other 2_Magistrate Court
	JAG_Magistrate Ct

	Item 6c.	Other 3_COVID Guidelines
	Other 3_Covid a
	Other 3_Covid b

	Item 6e.	Other 5_Board
	Michael's Resume

	Item 7a.	Update 1_CA_Water Tower
	Update 1_Water Tower

	Bottom

